National Public Procurement Policy Framework



ARNA FHOILSIÚ AG OIFIG AN tSOLÁTHAIR

Le ceannach díreach ón

OIFIG DHÍOLTA FOILSEACHÁN RIALTAIS, TEACH SUN ALLIANCE, SRÁID THEACH LAIGHEAN, BAILE ÁTHA CLIATH 2.

nó tríd an bpost ó

FOILSEACHÁIN RAILTAIS, AN RANNÓG POST TRÁCHTA 51 FAICHE STIABHNA, BAILE ÁTHA CLIATH 2.

(Teil: 01-647 6000; Faics: 01-647 6843)

PUBLISHED BY THE STATIONERY OFFICE

To be purchased from the GOVERNMENT PUBLICATIONS SALES OFFICE, SUN ALLIANCE HOUSE, MOLESWORTH STREET, DUBLIN 2

or by mail order from

GOVERNMENT PUBLICATIONS, POSTAL TRADE SECTION, 51 ST. STEPHEN'S GREEN, DUBLIN 2 (Teil: 01-647 6000; Fax: 01-647 6843)

Price: €5

ISBN 0-7557-1667-9

ork
or

This document is issued by the NPPPU to provide general guidance and information. It is not an interpretation of any legal provision governing public procurement. Additional informal advice on the policy and corporate plan may be sought from the NPPPU (Contact details are given in Appendix D - Contact and information sources on public procurement policy)

National Public Procurement Policy Framework

- 1. Guidance on the procurement of supplies and services is set out in the *Public Procurement Guidelines Competitive Process* issued in 2004. These guidelines set out the steps to be followed in conducting an appropriate competitive process under EU and national rules. They are published on www.etenders.gov.ie. and are available from the Government Publications Sales Office.
- 2. Additional guidelines on the engagement of management consultants in the civil service, appraisal and management of capital expenditure in the public sector and on the engagement of advertising, public relations and creative design services are available on www.finance.gov.ie.
- 3. This document sets an overarching policy objective for public procurement. It sets out the aims of national public procurement policy, including the requirement to give practical expression to it in a corporate procurement plan. It also sets out a broad outline for the development of that plan by Departments and Offices covered by this policy framework.

National Public Procurement Policy Framework

Contents

1. Executive summary

2. Public Procurement Policy

- 2.1 Definition of national public procurement policy
- 2.2 Aims of national public procurement policy
- 2.3 Core principles underpinning national public procurement policy
- 2.4 Public bodies to which national public procurement policy applies

3. Public procurement and the need for a change in emphasis

- 3.1 Current approach to procurement and the need for change
- 3.2 Procurement management reform
- 3.3 Value for money in public procurement policy

4. Achieving a change in public procurement policy and procedure with a corporate procurement plan

- 4.1 Introduction to corporate procurement planning
- 4.2 Strategic issues and the corporate procurement plan
- 4.3 Introduction to the corporate procurement plan
- 4.4 Aim of the corporate procurement plan
- 4.5 Collection of information and use of the supply positioning tool
- 4.6 Requirement to analyse systems, procedures and staff capabilities
- 4.7 Specifying procurement objectives for the organisation
- 4.8 Measuring the achievement of procurement objectives

5. Planning for significant purchases

- 5.1 Requirement to produce a plan for significant purchases
- 5.2 Outline of requirements in plan for significant purchases

Appendices

Appendix A	Corporate procurement plan guide
Appendix B	Risk management and assessment
Appendix C	Supply positioning strategies
Appendix D	Contact and information sources on national public procurement
	policy

1. Executive Summary

- 1.1 The public procurement process in public sector organisations is heavily decentralised. Public bodies perform the function independently within a framework of EU/national laws and national guidelines. These promote open and transparent competition as a means of achieving value for money. However, the increasing complexity and importance of purchasing decisions by public bodies is leading to a need for a more strategic focus and improved management of the public procurement process.
- 1.2 Effective and efficient procurement policy, procedures and practices by public bodies can have a significant impact on the accountability and value for money aspects of the purchase of goods and services by the State. The potential for real savings from more effective procurement policies and practices is significant. Achieving savings is important as it frees up resources which can be redirected to the provision of services within organisations.
- 1.3 The National Public Procurement Policy Unit (NPPPU) was established in the Department of Finance as a result of an April 2002 Government decision. Its role is to develop public sector procurement, policy and practice through a process of procurement management reform.
- 1.4 This policy document, drawn up by the NPPPU, is part of ongoing work to implement this programme of *procurement management reform* in the public sector. It sets out the broad practices and principles that should underpin reform. The reform process involves capacity building, training and education measures and procurement aggregation. These reform pillars are being developed and rolled out in tandem with incremental and suitable e-procurement measures. Practical steps have already been taken to advance these reform pillars.
- 1.5 In this context, therefore, and as part of the overall aim of reforming procurement policy, public bodies subject to this policy are

expected to:

- include procurement management reform as one of the key strategic priorities and aims as part of their statements of strategy or other key strategic documents
- develop an appropriate <u>corporate procurement plan</u> based on the <u>procurement management reform</u> objectives; and
- arising from the annual corporate procurement plan develop a <u>plan(s)</u> for <u>significant purchases</u>.
- 1.6 Part A of this document sets out the policy framework, while Part B provides guidance on the implementation of the policy in individual public bodies.

2. Public Procurement Policy

Definition of national public procurement policy

2.1 Public procurement is defined as the acquisition, whether under formal contract or otherwise, of works, supplies and services by public bodies. It ranges from the purchase of routine supplies or services to formal tendering and placing contracts for large infrastructural projects by a wide and diverse range of contracting authorities.

Aims of national public procurement policy

- 2.2 Public procurement policy aims to achieve value for money. It is underpinned by a number of core principles, in particular the need to maximise competition in the market for the goods and services purchased by the State. Where practical and legally possible the policy should also seek to promote whole of Government objectives. National policy aims to advance the process of *procurement management reform* which comprises:
- capacity building which involves building organisational capacity to strategically manage procurement effort to maximise measurable savings and benefits;
- training and education which seeks to develop capabilities and competencies among employees which are necessary to sustain measurable improvements in procurement performance;
- **procurement aggregation** which aims to reduce cost through leveraging public sector demand in certain markets;
- e-procurement to improve efficiency through the targeted use of cost effective technologies to support various aspects of procurement effort.

Core principles underpinning national public procurement policy

- 2.3. Procurement policy and practice must conform to certain core principles and should therefore be:
 - accountable;
 - competitive;
 - non-discriminatory and provide for equality of treatment:
 - fair and transparent; and
 - conducted with probity and integrity.

Public bodies to which national public procurement policy applies

2.4. The national procurement policy framework applies to:

- a) Central Government departments and bodies under their aegis and which are subject to audit under the Auditor General (Amendment) Act, 1993;
- b) Commercial and non-commercial state bodies;
- c) Local and regional authorities.

3. Public procurement and the need for a change in emphasis

Current approach to procurement and the need for change

3.1 Public procurement policy and actions are focused on compliance with the relevant EU, WTO and national legal requirements and obligations. They must also comply with relevant procurement guidance issued by the Department of Finance. Compliance with these rules by all public bodies to which they apply is vitally important to ensure fairness, accountability and to encourage competition.¹

Developments internationally suggest that better outcomes may be possible by moving beyond pure compliance with existing rules towards improved procurement policies and practices. There have been some efforts in this direction in Ireland. The scope for further development now exists.

Procurement management reform

3.2 There is now an opportunity to build on existing compliance strengths and move procurement policy and practice to a more strategic level to maximise the financial and organisational benefits to the State. Drawing from the actions of capacity building, training and education, procurement aggregation and e-procurement, the process of procurement management reform is to be achieved by improving the procurement function across public bodies by adopting optimal procurement structures, and effective purchasing policies and procedures. This involves an assessment of existing procurement structures, policies, procedures and skills. It requires, that following the assessment process, appropriate procurement policy, procedures and practices are adopted which lead to value for money outcomes over time. The main output for public sector organisations of the procurement management reform policy is the production and implementation of a corporate procurement plan.

Value for money in public procurement policy

3.3 The main aim of national policy on procurement is to achieve value for money having regard to probity and accountability. While price is very important in determining value for money outcomes in procurement and for certain categories of purchases in particular, it

www.e-tenders.gov.ie is the primary resource for advertising tenders, for disseminating information on procurement (guidelines, news, etc.) and for all advertising and creation of notices for the Official Journal of the European Union.

is not the only variable that needs to be considered. Value for money also encompasses non-cost factors. When making purchases of goods or services consideration should be given to whether they are fit for the purpose for which they are intended, whether the goods or services provided are of sufficient quality and whether the level of service or support provided meets the requirements. There are other issues that should also be considered including whole-of-life and transaction costs associated with acquiring, using, holding, maintaining and disposing of the goods or services. Value for money in procurement is, therefore, the optimum combination of whole-life-costs and/or price, where appropriate, and quality (or fitness for purpose) to meet the user's requirements.

Responsibility for ensuring value for money outcomes rests with individual departments and offices. Under section 4(f) and (g) of the **Public Service Management Act (PSMA), 1997**² departments and scheduled offices are required to provide cost effective public services, achieve better use of resources and comply with the requirements of the **Comptroller and Auditor General (Amendment) Act, 1993.** Similar rules, which require value for money outcomes, apply to bodies which are audited by the Comptroller and Auditor General.

² This states that Secretary Generals or the head of a Scheduled Office are, subject to the determination of matters of policy by the Minister of the Government, tasked with "...(f) ensuring that the resources of the Department or Scheduled Office are used in a manner that is in accordance with the Comptroller and Auditor General (Amendment) Act, 1993 with a view to enabling the matters referred to in paragraphs (a) to (d) of Section 19(1) of that Act to be appropriately addressed by the Department or Scheduled office; (g) examining and developing means that will improve the provision by the Department or Scheduled Office of cost effective public services.."

4. ACHIEVING A CHANGE IN PUBLIC PROCUREMENT POLICY AND PROCEDURE WITH A CORPORATE PROCUREMENT PLAN

Introduction to corporate procurement planning

4.1 This section sets out the practical policy and process changes which support *procurement management reform*. These will be supported by guidance to be produced by NPPPU over time and as appropriate.

The PSMA, 1997 requires the development of a strategy statement which comprises the key goals, objectives, strategies and outputs for the organisation. Departments and offices deriving their strategic mandate from that Act should develop and include public procurement policy objectives as part of their strategic framework. Public bodies, which are not within the remit of the Act, but which have a strategic plan underpinning their organisation's activities should also develop and include public procurement policy objectives as part of their strategic framework.

To ensure that procurement is at the centre of the decision making process, public bodies should:

- include procurement management reform as one of the key strategic priorities and objectives in the Statement of Strategy;
- b) develop an annual corporate procurement plan based on the procurement management reform objectives; and
- c) arising from the annual corporate procurement plan develop a plan(s) for significant purchases, where necessary and appropriate.

Strategic issues and the corporate procurement plan 4.2 The form and shape of any procurement strategy adopted by public bodies will vary from organisation to organisation and therefore, it is not possible to be prescriptive. Nevertheless, any strategy which is adopted should reflect the requirements of national procurement policy – management reform and achieving value for money. When public bodies are developing the process outlined in paragraph 4.1 (a–c), it should be linked to the overall strategic objectives of the organisation and into the business planning process. This approach would allow for the effective interaction

between the organisation's strategic objectives and procurement policy and management.

Introduction to the corporate procurement plan 4.3. Best practice corporate governance requires a key role for procurement management. The pursuit of best practice procurement should be supported by action to place it at the centre of organisational business planning by means of an annual corporate procurement plan. A template which outlines best practice for a corporate procurement plan is set out in Appendix A.

It is the responsibility of departments and offices and other public bodies to develop appropriate procurement policies and plans. If possible, public bodies which have a reporting relationship should seek to co-operate in the development of procurement policies and plans. For example, a department and the agencies for which it is responsible could consider developing a single corporate procurement plan. This would allow for greater co-operation, for exchanges of information, minimise the need to produce individual plans and provide better opportunities for aggregation of demand of commonly used goods and services.

Aim of the corporate procurement plan

4.4 The corporate procurement plan addresses the policy and practical approach to be adopted by an organisation. The annual plan should set objectives that seek to improve the way the organisation acquires and pays for goods and services. As a first step the plan should examine past purchasing activities and procedures. The plan needs to set targets for value for money improvements in the purchase of goods and services. It needs to measure if appropriate changes in process and procedures which deliver value for money have been achieved. The plan also needs to examine the potential for procurement aggregation of commonly used goods and services. There are a number of steps which need to be adopted to facilitate the development of the corporate plan.

Collection of information and use of the supply positioning tool

4.5 In order to facilitate the development of a corporate procurement plan, organisations need to have a thorough understanding of their purchasing expenditure and the level of risk associated with acquiring particular goods and services. Two main factors are considered to influence the nature of public purchasing and are the basis for the use of the procurement management tool called *Supply Positioning*. These are:

- the difficulty of securing supplies of goods and services:

this means the degree to which the goods and services present risks or are critical to the purchasing organisation (an overview of risk issues is contained in Appendix B) as well as the extent to which a competitive supply market for the goods or services exists; and

- the relative expenditure for the goods and services:

this means the total cost of the individual good or service relative to the total purchasing expenditure by the organisation.

All the data collected from the financial system on purchases of goods and services is plotted using the supply positioning tool and is allocated into the quadrants of the supply positioning matrix in Figure 1

3. Difficult to secure supply and low relative expenditure

1. Easy to secure supply and low relative expenditure

2. Easy to secure supply and high relative expenditure

Relative Expenditure

Relative Expenditure

Figure 1 - Supply positioning matrix

Each of the quadrants has distinct attributes that require specific strategies. More detail on procurement strategies for each of these quadrants can be found in Appendix C.

Requirement to analyse systems, procedures and staff capabilities 4.6 An organisation also needs an examination of systems, procedures and staff capabilities, which support procurement to assess the overall performance of the procurement function.

Specifying procurement objectives for the organisation

- 4.7 Once an organisation has identified and classified purchasing information the next step in the plan involves developing procurement policy objectives. Organisations should list the key issues or problems arising from the analysis of their spending. This information is a good way of determining where the *procurement management reform* effort should be focused in the corporate procurement plan. The use of this supply positioning information can potentially transform purchasing from a predominantly transaction processing based function, to one with a strategic role and influence. For example, some corporate procurement objectives which could be identified are:
 - reduction of costs and the containment of the purchase price of goods and services;
 - reduction of risk exposure associated with difficult to supply goods or services; or
 - reduction of transaction costs associated with purchasing goods or services.

Measuring the achievement of procurement objectives 4.8. The corporate procurement plan requires specification of how the purchasing body's procurement objectives will be measured. It is important that public bodies develop performance measures for this purpose. Performance measures should be established in relation to specific strategies and key processes and set out in the corporate procurement plan. Performance measures should be simple, relevant, specific, proportionate, agreed by stakeholders and within the control of the purchasing body. Public bodies should avoid having over complex measurement criteria. Ultimately, it is a matter for public bodies to develop their own performance measures and refine and develop these over time as the process becomes more sophisticated. The material set out here is intended to be illustrative. Bodies could use or adapt as appropriate, some or all of the following performance measures to determine whether they have improved their purchase of goods and services:

- Cost reduction and containment (especially where demand is increasing)
- level of savings/economies due to new contract/supplier arrangement or purchasing initiatives;
- cost reduction due to using an alternative good or service;
- reduction in demand for a good or service.
- Supplier performance
- gauge whether contract requirements, service and quality are met by examining terms of contract against actual performance.
- Contract management
- ensure supplier is performing on requirements specified in the contract.
- Maintenance of procurement profile
- ensure profile of spending on goods and services by the public body is up to date.
- Maintain and update information on relevant markets
- ensure appropriate information is collected on a timely basis and is available when needed.

Public bodies could use some of the following performance measures to determine whether they have improved the way they deal with the transactions element of their internal purchasing practices and procedures.

- Efficiency of internal procurement systems and processes
- volume of procurement spend transacted electronically;
- reduction in transaction and inventory management costs;
- savings on procurement staff time and resources;
- volume of goods and services transacted through aggregated arrangements;
- internal customer satisfaction with devolved purchasing processes such as perceived degree of simplicity, convenience and effectiveness of procurement decision making.

5. PLANNING FOR SIGNIFICANT PURCHASES

Requirement to produce a plan for significant purchases

- 5.1 This policy requires each public body to prepare plans when making significant purchases of goods and services. These have been identified by the purchasing body as being of high relative expenditure and/or where securing supply can be difficult and/or is critical to the operation of the public body. Significant purchases can be characterised as follows:
 - they represent the majority of a purchasing body's spend;
 - they are generally complex in terms of demand and/or supply; and
 - individually, they can have a significant impact on a purchasing body's operations.

Outline of requirements in plan for significant purchases

- 5.2 In planning for significant purchases organisations should seek to:
 - identify the best way to approach the procurement of specific goods or services through information gathering and analysis;
 - identify risks (e.g. possibility of non-delivery or identifying wider range of suppliers) associated with the purchase of goods or services at an early stage to allow optimum management;
 - set objectives to be achieved; and
 - identify ways of achieving these objectives.

Public bodies should use the same methodology for these plans as is used to develop their own corporate procurement plan. Information for this plan should be used in the plans for significant purchases.

APPENDIX A Best Practice Corporate Procurement Plan

1. Examine the department's/agency's procurement function and the procurement Spend Goods And Services: Procurement Function: What & how much is purchased from who, where & how. Includes a study of key supply markets, procurement profiling, risk analysis and an assessment of the department's / agency's impact on its supply markets. Review the procurement function -it's role & structure, systems, capability and process. On the basis of this analysis 2. Identify procurement objectives 3. Develop corporate level strategies (ii) Management of the (i) Purchase of goods Objectives & buying strategies for each category of goods & services
 Strategies for developing supply markets function. Identify areas for Through use of a combination of procurement management strategies such as management Capability (Human Resources) Systems & Processes 4. Implementation of purchasing strategies

& services

Identify significant purchases

5. Measurement of results

APPENDIX B Risk Management And Assessment

A report of the working group on the accountability of Secretaries General and Accounting Officers (the Mullarkey Report), endorsed by the Government and published in January 2003, inter alia, recommended that risk assessment and management should be integrated into the management processes of Departments within two years of the publication of the report. The report recommended that the risk management system should concentrate on the principal risks to the organisation as well as the principal risks arising from its relationship with other organisations.

The Government Accounting Section, Department of Finance issued formal advice — *Risk Management Guidance for Government Departments and Offices* - in March 2004. This informs the approach by public sector organisations to all forms of risk assessment and management. It is expected that public sector organisations will include risk assessment and management processes specific to procurement in their corporate procurement plan. The processes set out in the Risk Management Guidelines issued by the Department of Finance should be used as a way of determining procurement risk.

Public bodies should engage in risk assessment and management in procurement where:

- The value of the purchase is high;
- The procurement process is complex;
- Adverse consequences could significantly affect a public body's operation;
- Delivering the public body's core services to the community is significantly affected.

When risk is being considered with respect to procurement, public bodies should consider that risk is assessed in relation to each category of goods and services with reference, for example, to the following factors:

- nature of the supply market i.e. does it favour the buyer or the supplier;
- probability of supply failure;
- complexity of relationship with supplier;
- impact on the organisation of supply failure;
- strategic importance to the organisation.

APPENDIX C Supply Positioning Strategies

Low relative spend – easy to secure supply; Quadrant (1)

This segment includes ad hoc purchases such as subscriptions or publications. International experience suggests that total expenditure on categories in this segment is generally less than 5%. Purchasing of items in this segment is most efficient where decision-making is devolved to those who are closest to the point of need. The purchasing strategy in this segment is to <u>reduce</u> transaction costs.

High relative spend – easy to secure supply; Quadrant (2)

Items in this segment include goods such as electricity, fuels or telecommunications. International experience suggests that expenditure on categories in this segment is usually, around 20-30% of the total. Usually there is some degree of competition in the market that favours the position of the buyer. The purchasing strategy is to reduce unit costs by leveraging volume demand into the market and reduce associated transaction costs.

Low relative spend – difficult to secure supply; Quadrant (3)

This segment includes goods that are specialised, technical and often for the specific use of the purchasing body. Goods and services include, for example, specialised information technology consultancy or unique chemicals. Expenditure is likely to be less than 1% of the total. Most of the buying in this segment is done by technical experts. The procurement strategy in this segment is to reduce risk through changing demand attributes (i.e. reducing demand for a good or service or seeking substitute products or services) and/or improving the body's position in the market (i.e. developing better relationships with the supplier base or seeking a wider range of suppliers, possibly in another territory). There are generally limited opportunities for reducing costs in this segment.

High relative spend – difficult to buy; Quadrant (4)

The segment includes goods and services that are critical to the core business of the body. Categories in this segment include, for example, information technology related systems development or major construction projects. Procurement related expenditure in this segment is usually between 50 - 60% of the total for a body. The procurement strategy is to achieve value for money through effective supplier selection and strong relationship management.

APPENDIX D

Contacts and information sources on National Public Procurement Policy

Contacts in the National Public Procurement Policy Unit

Pat Leahy

Telephone 01-6396252

E-Mail <u>pat.leahy@finance.gov.ie</u>

Ronan Gallagher

Telephone 01-6396278

E-Mail <u>ronan.gallagher@finance.gov.ie</u>

Guidelines and Directives

Up to date public procurement guidelines are available on the national public procurement website www.etenders.gov.ie

EU Directive 2004/18/EC covers the procurement procedure of public sector bodies. Directive 2004/17/EC covers the procurement procedures of entities operating in the utilities sector. These Directives were published in OJ No L 134 of 30 April 2004 and are available on http://europa.eu.int/eur.lexlen/index.html, or the EU public procurement guidelines website http://simap.eu.int under 'Rules and Guidance'. General information on EU public procurement issues is also available on the website.